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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

BRIAN P.CARNEY andWILLIAM C.
GUMPPERJR,

Plaintiffs, - Civil Action No. 15-00260BRM-DEA
V.
OPINION
RUSSELLP.GOLDMAN, P.C.and
JOHNDOES1-25,

Defendans.

MARTINOTTI, DISTRICT JUDGE

Beforethis Courtare: (1) DefendanRussellP. Goldman, P.C.’$*Goldman”) Motion for
SummaryJudgmen{ECF No. 53); and(2) Plaintiffs Brian P. Carney(“Carney”) andWilliam C.
GumpperJr.s (“Gumpper”) (together, Plaintiffs”) Motion to Certify Class (ECF No 54.) All
motionsare opposed(ECF Nos. 54 and 61.) Pursuata FederalRule of Civil Procedure 78(b),
the Courtdid not hearoral argumentFor the reasonssetforth below, Goldman’s Motiorfor
SummaryJudgments DENIED andPlaintiffs’ Motion to Certify Classis GRANTED.
l. BACKGROUND

From 2007to 2010, Carneyborrowed $92,00rom the New JerseyHigher Education
StudentAssistanceAuthority (‘HESAA”). (GoldmanStat. of UndisputedViat. Facts(ECF No.
53-1) 1 1 ancPIs.” Resp.to GoldmanStat. of Facts(ECF No. 57-1) 1 1.)Gumpper,Carney’s
stepfathercosignedhreeof thosdoans thetotal principal amount of his cosiga $69,000(ECF

No. 53-1 § 2 andECFNo. 57-1 1 2.)In connectionwith theseloans,Carneyand Gumppeeach
1
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signed promissory notés favor of HESAA which state,in pertinentpart “I will payall charges,
collectioncostsandall othercoststhatarepermittedunderthis Notefor thecollectionof thisloan,
whichthe lender or subsequent holder of BnemissoryNoteincursin collectingthis loan.” (Am.
Compl.(ECFNo. 27) 1 72ECFNo.53-1 § 3ECFNo.57-1 1 3.)

At somepoint, Plaintiffs stopped making payments on the loans HESAA retained
Goldmanasits attorneyfor the purpose ofollectionof those debt{ECFNo. 53-1 § 4 andECF
No.57-1 1 4.0nJune 27, 201450ldmansentPlaintiffs demandettersstatingthe “amount due”
as$130,757.52or Carneyand $110, 251.0tbr Gumppel(the“June 27 etters”). (ECFNo. 27 at
Ex. E and ExF.) The lettersfurtherstated:Thereremainsdue a balancasshown abovewhich
includesinterestand collection costs.”(ECF No. 27 at Ex. E andEx. F.) The collection costs
representhe contingencyfee agreemenbetweenGoldmanandHESAA. (ECFNo. 27 {1 71.)

On July 20, 2014 Carneydisputed thevalidity of his debt.(ECF No. 27 at Ex. G.)
Therefore,on July 23, 2014Goldmansent him a letter providing him with copies ofthe
promissory notes oall four loans. id.) Thatletteralsoitemizedthe “amount due,” by breaking
down the amount byrincipal, interest andcollection costs.(ld.) Becauseneither Carneynor
Gumpper paidheir debts,Goldmanfiled a Complaintagainstthem,on behalf oHESAA, in the
SuperiorCourtof New Jersey(the“State Court Action”).(ECFNo. 53-1 { 7 an€ECFNo. 57-1
7.) Thatactionsought ollection costsand attorneysfeesin the amount of $21, 211.03 against
Carneyand $16,689.05 against Gumpa&CFNo. 53-1 1 8 an&ECFNo. 57-1 { 8.xCarneyand
Gumpperepresentethemselvegro sein the StateCourt action(ECFNo. 57-1 1 20.)

In Carneyand Gumpper'sState Court Answer to HESAA’s Complaint, they denied
attorneysfeeswereduebecause:

It is defendant’s understanding thatintiff’ s customaryretainer
agreementprovidesfor a fee only when an amountis actually



collected and is contingent onthe amount collected. Under
plaintiffs customaryretainer agreement,attorney fees are not
incurred orcalculableuntil plaintiff's attorneycollectssomeamount
from the borrover. Defendant demandslaintiff's counsel to
providestrict proof of theattorneyfee being sought.

(ECFNo.53-2atEx. A 1 4.)In addition,Plaintiffs’ TenthAffirmative Defensean their StateCourt

Answerstatedin part
The plaintiff's attorney,a debtcollector, who regularly collects
debts is subject to the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(“FDCPA") . .. It isdefendantstontentiorthatplaintiff's attorney,
[Goldman] (1) madefalse,deceptive or misleadingstatements(2)
made false representations and engaged deceptivemeansto
collect or attemptto collect a debt; and (3used unfair and
unconscionableneando collector attemptto collect adebt.

(Id. atEx. A, TenthAffirmative Offense.)

Carneyand Gumpper'sState Court Answer was eventuallystrickenfor their failure to
answelinterrogatoriestECFNo. 31-1 1 4ECFNo0.53-1 § 11; an&CFNo.57-1 { 11.Thereatfter,
HESAA sought a default judgment agaiR$aintiffs’, which wasenteredon Septembeg8, 2015.
(ECF No. 31-1.) The Judgmentwas enteredin favor of HESAA and againstCarney for
$149,122.91, plusosts,andagainstGumpperfor $117,415.45, plusosts.(Id.) Includedin the
judgment amountaereattorney’sfeesasassertedn HESAA's certificationto the StateCourt.
(ECFNo0.531 114 andECFNo.57-1 1 14.)

On January 13, 2015, Plaintiffs filed their initial class action complaint (“Initial
Complaint”) against GoldmanECF No. 1.) On Februaryl9, 2015,Goldmanfiled its Answer,
and thepartiesbeganto engagen discovery.(ECFNo. 5.) On June 17, 201&laintiffs filed an
Amended Complaint alleginGoldmanviolatedseveralprovisions ofthe FDCPA by attempting

to collect collectioncostswhensuchcostshad notbeenincurredat thetime the June 21 etters

weresent.(ECF No. 27.) On August 15, 2016Goldmanmovedto dismissthe casefor lack of



jurisdiction. (ECF No. 31.) On December22, 2016, the Courtethiedthe Motion.(ECF Nos. 44
and 45.0nJanuary2, 2017 Goldmanfiled anAnswerto the Amendedomplaint(ECFNo. 46.)
On Decemberl3, 2017, Goldmafiled a Motion for SummaryJudgment andPlaintiffs filed a

Motion to Certify Class(ECFNos.53 and 54.) Both motionareopposed(ECFNo0s.57 and 58.)

. SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION

A. Standard of Review

Summary judgment is appropriate “if the pleadings, depositionsanswers to
interrogatoriesand admissions ofiie, togethemwith the affidavits, if any, show thathereis no
genuinegssueasto anymaterialfactand that the movingartyis entitledto a judgmenasamatter
of law.” Fed.R. Civ. P.56(c). Afactualdisputes genuineonly if thereis “a sufficientevidentiary
basisonwhich a reasonablgiry couldfind for the non-moving party,’andit is materialonly if it
has theability to “affect the outcome of theuit under governingaw.” Kaucherv. Cty. of Bucks
455 F.3d 418, 423 (3@ir. 2006);seealso Andersorv. Liberty Lobby, Inc, 477U.S. 242, 248
(1986). Disputes oveirrelevant or unnecessaryacts will not preclude arant of summary
judgment. Anderson477U.S.at 248.“In considering a motiofor summaryjudgment, alistrict
courtmay notmakecredibility determinations or engageanyweighing of the evidenc@stead,
the non-moving party’s evidends to be believed andll justifiable inferencesareto bedrawnin
his favor.” Marino v. Indus. CratingCo., 358 F.3d 241, 247 (3dir. 2004) (quotingAnderson
477U.S.at 255));seealso MatsushitaElec. Indus.Co. v. ZenithRadio Corp, 475U.S.574, 587,
(1986); Curley v. Klem, 298 F.3d 271, 276-77 (3dir. 2002).“Summaryjudgmentmay not be
granted . . if thereis adisagreemendverwhatinferencecanbereasonablgrawnfrom thefacts

evenif thefactsare undisputed.Nathansorv. Med.Coll. of Pa,, 926 F.2d 1368, 138@rd Cir.



1991)(citing Gansv. Mundy, 762 F.2d 338, 340 (3@ir.), cert. denied 474U.S. 1010 (1985));
Ideal Dairy Farms,Inc.v. John LabattLtd., 90 F.3d 737, 744 (3@ir. 1996).

Theparty movingfor summaryjudgment has thimitial burden of showing thieasisfor its
motion. CelotexCorp. v. Catrett 477U.S. 317, 323 (1986):If the movingparty will bearthe
burden of persuasioat trial, that party must supportits motion with credible evidence . . . that
would entitle it to adirectedverdictif not controvertedttrial.” Id. at 331.0n the other handf
the burderof persuasiomttrial would be on the nonmoving party, tharty movingfor summary
judgmentmay satisfy Rule 56’s burden of production bgither (1) “submit[ting] affirmative
evidence hat negatesn essentiablementof the nonmoving party’slaim” or (2) demonstrating
“that the nonmovingparty’s evidenceis insufficient to establishan essentialelementof the
nonmoving party’slaim.” Id. Oncethe movant adequately suppatsmotion pursuanto Rule
56(c), the burdershifts to the nonmovingparty to “go beyond the pleadings and hgr own
affidavits, or by the depositionsanswersto interrogatoriesand admissions ofile, designate
specificfactsshowingthatthereis a genuinassue for trial.” 1d. at 324; seealsoMatsushita 475
U.S.at 586; Ridgewoodd. of Ed. v. Stokley 172 F.3d 238, 252 (3€ir. 1999).In deciding the
meritsof a party’s motiorfor summaryjudgment, the court'sle is notto evaluatehe evidence
and decidehe truth of the matter,but to determinewhetherthereis a genuindassuefor trial.
Anderson477U.S.at 249.Credibility determinationsrethe province of thé&actfinder.Big Apple
BMW,Inc.v.BMWof N. Am.,Inc., 974 F.2d 1358, 1363 (3ir. 1992).

Therecanbe “no genuineissueasto anymaterialfact,” howeverjf apartyfails “to make
a showingsufficientto establishthe existenceof an elementessentiato that party’scase,and on
which thatpartywill bearthe burden of proddttrial.” Celotex 477U.S.at322-23.[A] complete

failure of proof concerningnessentiatlementof the nonmoving party’sasenecessarilyenders



all otherfactsimmaterial.”1d. at 323; Katzv. AetnaCas. & Sur. Co., 972 F.2d 53, 55 (3@ir.
1992).
B. Entire Controversy

GoldmanarguesPlaintiffs’ claimsare barredby theentire controversy doctrinbecause
Plaintiffs raisedtheir FDCPA claimsbefore theStateCourt,but never soughtio join Goldmanas
a party.(ECFNo. 53-3at 9.) Plaintiffs argue Goldman’sntire controversyclaim is time barred,
or alternativelythatit doesnot applybecausehe FDCPA claimsin this matterare not relatedto
theclaimsin the StateCourt Action.(ECFNo. 57 at7-14.)

New Jersey’sentire controversy doctrines “an extremelyrobustclaim preclusion device
thatrequiresadversarie$o join all possibleclaimsstemmingfrom an event orseriesof eventsn
onesuit.” Chavea. Dole FoodCo., 836 F.3d 205, 228 n.130 (&ir. 2016).The doctrine

requires goartyto bringin oneactionall affirmative claimsthatit

might have against anothgarty or be forevebarredfrom bringing

a subsequerictioninvolving thesameunderlyingfacts.Thecentral

consideratioris whether theclaimsarisefrom relatedfacts or the

sametransactioror seriesof transactions.
Opdyckev. Stout 233F. App’x 125, 129 (3dCir. 2007)(marksandcitationsomitted); seealso
Rickettiv. Barry, 775F.3d611, 613 (3dCir. 2015).The objectives of the doctrinare threefold:
“(1) the needfor complete andinal disposition through the avoidancepiécemeatiecisions|?2)
fairnessto partiesto theactionand thosevith a materialinterestin theaction;and(3) efficiency
and the avoidance ofasteandthereduction of delay.Ditrolio v. Antiles 662 A.2d 494, 50267
(N.J.1995).TheThird Circuit hasruledthat“[a] federalcourt hearing éederalcauseof actionis

bound byNew Jersey’sEntire Controversy Doctrinean aspectof the substantivéaw of New

Jersey by virtue of the Full Faith and Credit Act, 28 U.S.C.8§ 1738 (1994).’Litgo N.J., Inc.v.



Comm’rN.J.Dep’t of Envtl. Prot., 725F.3d 369, 400 n.2 (3dir. 2013) (quotindRycoline Prods.
v.C & WUnlimited 109F.3d 883, 887 (3€ir. 1997)).

“Under theentire controversy doctrine, auccessiveaction may be precludedvhere a
litigant failed to previouslyjoin anecessarparty,andwheresuchfailure was(1) theresultof the
litigant’s inexcusable conduct; ai2)) nowresultsin substantiaprejudiceto the non-party.Beale
V. Rubin & Rothmanl.LC, No. 08-4279, 2000VL 1916322at*3 (D.N.J.June 29, 2009)The
concepts ofnexcusableconduct andgubstantiaprejudiceareinterrelatedsuchthatthe existence
of substantiaprejudicewill oftenserveto render the underlying conducexcusable.Ctr. For
Prof'l| Advancement. Mazzie 347 F. Supp. 2d 150, 15@.N.J. 2004). Substantialprejudice
“meansthat a person not joined anearlieractionwill beseriouslyharmedn his or hembility to
maintainan adequatelefensan a subsequent actiond. Examples osuchharm include loss of
witnessesjoss of evidence,and fadingmemories.ld. Delay alone does noserveto create
substantiaprejudice.ld.

The leadingasesettingforth alist of nonexclusivdactorsto be consideredn determining
whethertheentirecontroversy doctrine appli@s the context opartyjoinderis Hobart Bros.Co.
v. Nat’l Union Fire Ins.Co., 806A.2d 810, 818 N.J. Super.Ct. App. Div. 2002).Thesefactors
havebeensummarizedy this Courtto includethe following:

(1) whether the persamot joined in an earlieractionis precluded
from seekingrecoveryin a subsequent actio(2) whether a person
so precludedcan neverthelesde alternatively compensated(3)
whetherthe failure to join or identify (in a 4:5-1 cettification) a
persorwaspart of astrategyto thwarttheassertiorof avalid claim;
(4) whetherthefailureto join oridentify a persowasunreasonable
under thecircumstanceg5) whethera person not joineid anaction
should be chargedith constrctive knowledge otthat action; (6)
the extento which judicial resourcesvere employedn theearlier

litigation; and (7) whether a person ngined in an earlieraction
might beunfairly hamperedn their ability to mount adefensee.g.,



dueto loss of evidence, the running ah applicableperiod of
limitations, or other prejudice.

Ctr. For Prof'| Advancement347F. Supp. 2dat 156-57(citing Hobart Bros. Co., 806 A.2dat
818). None ofthesefactorsis dispositive.ld. The courtin Hobart cautionedthat “preclusioris a
remedyof lastresort.. . . Courtanustcarefullyanalyzebothfairnessto the partiesandfairnessto
the systemof judicial administrationbeforedismissingclaims.” Hobart Bros. Co., 806 A.2dat
819.

Assumingarguendo Goldman’sentire controversydefensds nottime barred, the Court
finds Goldman hasailed to carry its burden of demonstratinthat it is entitled to the entire
controversydefenselt hasfailed to demonstrat®laintiffs engagedn inexcusable conduct tnat
it was prejudiced.Goldmans arguments that Plaintiffs raisedtheir FDCPA issuesbeforethe
SuperiorCourtin their StateCourt Answer, but never soughb join Goldmanasa party.(ECF
No. 53-3at9.) Thisis notinexcusableonductanddoes notmplicateany of the abovedactors

Turning to the Hobart factors,the Court notes that tHest two factors,both regarding
whetherGoldmancanrecoverin the instant actiomare inapplicable As for thethird factor, the
Court finds no evidence of @eliberatestrategyon the part ofPlaintiffs to pursuepiecemeal
litigation. Fourth,becaus®laintiffswerepro se theCourt findsthattheirfailureto join oridentify
Goldmanwasnot unreasonable under tiecumstancedAs to thefifth factor, Goldmanis charged
with constructive knowledge of tf&tateCourt Action,sinceit wasHESAA's counsel. Moreover,
judicial resourcesvere not extensivelyemployedin the StateCourt Action,sincethe matterdid
not goto trial, butwasinsteadresolvedvia default judgment.

Finally, Goldmanhasfailedto demonstraté will suffersubstantiaprejudicefrom its non-
joinderin the StateCourt Action. IndeedGoldmanpointsto no evidenceof harmin Plaintiffs’

bringing this litigation. The Courtdoesnot find thatincreasedcostsof litigation are sufficient



grounds particularlywhere Goldman incurresho expensesn the StateCourt Action becauset
wasnot a paty. Accordingly, Goldman’$/otion for SummaryJudgment on thieasisof theentire
controversy doctrines DENIED.
C. FDCPA Claims

Congresenacted theFDCPAIn 1977asaresultof the abundance “evidence of the use of
abusive deceptive and unfair debtadlection practices”andthe inadequacy oéxistinglaws and
procedures designed protectconsumersl5 U.S.C. 8 1694a), (b). At the time, Congressvas
concernedthat “[a]busive debtcollection practices contribute to the number of personal
bankruptciesto materialinstability, to the loss of jobs, an invasions of individual privacy.” 15
U.S.C. 8§ 1692(a).The statedpurpose of theFDCPA is “to eliminate abusivedebt collection
practicesby debtcollectors” andto promotefurther actionto protect cosumersagainstdebt
collectionabusesKaymarkv. Bank ofAm.,N.A, 783 F.3d 168, 174 (3@ir. 2015) (quoting 15
U.S.C.8 1692(e)) The right congress sought protectin enactingthis legislationwastherefore
not merely procedural, but substantive andgoéatimportance.”Blahav. First Nat'| Collection
Bureay No. 16-2791, 201&).S.Dist. LEXIS 157575at*23 (D.N.J.Nov. 10, 2016).

“Because¢he FDCPAIs aremedialstatutewe construets language broadlgoasto effect
its purpose.”’Lesher v. LawOffices of Mitchell N. Kay, PG50 F.3d 993, 997 (3d Cir. 2011)
(citing Brown v. Card Serv. Ctr464 F.3d 450, 453 (3d Cir. 2006)). Accordingly, communications
from lender to debtors are analyzed from the perspective of the “least spbdstiebtor.Brown,
464 F.3d at 454. “The basic purpose of the lsaphisticated [debtor] standard is to ensure that
the FDCPA protects all consumers, the gullible as well as the shrewd. This starmtarsistent
with the norms that courts have traditionally applia consumeprotection law.”ld. at 453

(citation omitted).



The “least sophisticated debtostandard‘prevents liability for bizarre or idiosyncratic
interpretations of collection notices by preserving a quotient of reasonabladegsseauming a
basiclevel of understanding and willingness to read with catglson v. Quadramed Cor®25
F.3d 350, 35455 (3d Cir. 2000) (citation omitted). “Even the least sophisticated debtor is bound
to read collection notices in their entirety.&@puzanoBurgos v.Midland Credit Mgmt. 550
F.3d 294, 299 (3d Cir. 2008).

To succeenanFDCPAclaim, aplaintiff mustestablish¥*(1) sheis a consumer, (2) the
defendants a debtollector,(3) the defendant’'shallengegracticeinvolvesanattemptto collect
a ‘debt’asthe[FDCPA] definesit, and(4) the defendant hagolateda provision othe FDCPA
in attemptingto collect the debt.”"Douglassv. Convergent Outsourcing65 F.3d 299, 303 (3d
Cir. 2014);seealso Jenserv. Pressler& Pressler 791 F.3d 413, 4173d Cir. 2015).0nly the
fourth prongis disputechere.(ECFNo. 52-1at 7; seeECFNo. 50-1andECF No. 56.) Goldman
concedeghefirst threeelementsof the FDCPA claimsare met, therefore the onlyissuebefore
the Courtis whetherGoldmanviolated any provisions of tHeDCPA.

Plaintiffs asserthe June 2T ettersviolated15U.S.C.8 1692e and § 1692f, the provisions
of theFDCPA dealingwith communicationgrom debtcollectorsto debtorsTheyclaim the June
27 Letters violatedthreespecificsubsectins: 8 1692¢e(ZM0), (10), and 8§ 1692f(1)(ECFNo. 27.)
Specifically,in their brief, Plaintiffs arguethe June27 Letters violatedthe FDCPAbecausd:

1. Fail[ed] to itemize the specific monetary amounit soughtto
collectfor “collectioncosts”. . . ;

2. Fail[ed] to itemize the specific monetary amounit soughtto
collectfor “interest”,

3. Fail[ed] to state whetherthe “collection costs” were due to
Defendant, norparty (creditor),[HESAA]; or someotherentity
[;

4. Attemptedto collect “collection costs”whensuch*“costs” had
not been“incurred’ at the time the debftcollectionletterswere
sent. . . .In fact,theywerecontingencyees,andit wasnot until

10



many monthsafter [Goldman’s] debtcollection letters were
sent to Plaintiffs that aNew Jerseystatecourt (in a separate,
unrelatedaction) evendeterminedhat Defendanivasentitled
to “collection costs”,and further determinedhe actualamount
of “collection costs”due . . . .

(ECF No. 57 at 1.) However, Plaintiffs raise three of theseclaims for the first time in their
oppositionto Goldman’s Motionfor SummaryJudgmentPlaintiffs AmendedComplaint only
assert$soldmanviolatedthe FDCPA:
By statingin its collectionlettersto Plaintiffs and othersimilarly
situatedthat“Thereremairs due aalanceasshownabove which
includesinterestandcollectioncosts”,whenin factif anycollection
costaredueatall, theamount ouchcostsis basedn apercentage
of the amount of the delabllectedand notbasedon the amount
referredfor collections,Goldmanusedfalse,deceptivemisleading
representations aneansin connectiorwith its attemptsto collect

the alleged debtsfrom plaintiffs and other similarly situated,in
violatedof 15U.S.C.8 1692eet seq.

By demandingan amountfor collection cost in its initial and

subsequertollectionlettersto Plaintiffsand othesimilarly situated

when said collection costswere not yet, if at all, due Goldman

violatedvarious provisions of thEDCPA, including butotlimited

to, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, 15U.S.C. § 1692¢2)(A), 15 U.S.C. §

1692e(10)15U.S.C.8 1692f and 18.S.C.8§ 1692f(1).
(ECF No. 27 11 94, 97.)Plaintiffs now attemptto assertthreemore violations ofthe FDCPA.
However, they cannotamendtheir Amended Complaint througtineir argumentsat summary
judgment. [d.) Plaintiffs cannot pursuelaims they neverpleadin their AmendedComplaint.
Blunt v. Lower Merion Sch.Dist.,, 767 F.3d 247, 286 (3@ir. 2014) (“[A plaintiff] may not
effectively amendits [clJomplaint by raisinga newtheory of standingn its response¢o a motion
for summaryjudgmentSimply put,summaryjudgmenis not a procedural secowctiarceto flesh

out inadequatpleadings.”)citationomitted).Thereforetheonly claim properlybeforethis Court

is whether Goldman’s June 2etters violatedthe FDCPAbecausét

11



[a]ttemptedto collect“collection costs”whensuch“costs” hadnot

been“incurred’ atthetime the debtollectionlettersweresent. . . .

In fact, they were contingencyfees, and it was not until many

months after [Goldman’s] debtcollection letters were sent to

Plaintiffs that aNew Jerseystate court (in a separateunrelated,

action_evendeterminedhat Defendantvasentitledto “collection

cods”, and furtherdeterminedthe actual amount of“collection

costs”due . . ..
(ECFNo.57at1; seeECFNo. 27.) Thereforethe Courtwill only addresghis claim.

1. Whether the June 27 Lettersviolated § 1692e and/or § 1692f

Plaintiffs argue theJune 27 Letters violated the FDCPA becauseét soughtto collect
attorneys’feesthat were not incurredwhen the debt letter was sent, considering Goldman’s
attorneys’feeswerebasedon contingency(ECF No. 57 at 14-24.)Specifically, Plaintiffs argue
“the ‘collection costs’statedin [Goldman’s] debtollectionletterscould not havdéeenincurred
by that pointbecausgGoldman]was requiredto have statecourt decideit was entitledto the
‘collection costs,” andhatit wasentitledto a specificamaunt.” (Id. at 19.) Goldman arguess
attorneys’feeswereproperlyincludedin the June27 Letters becausehosecostswere duewhen
Plaintiffs’ loanswentinto default.(ECFNo. 53-3at 18 andECFNo. 61at 10.)
Section1692e(2)(A) otheFDCPAprohibitsfalserepresentationf “the characteramount

or legal status of any debt.” $ction 1692e(10)which prohibits “[tlhe use of anyfalse
representationr deceptiveneando collector attemptto collectany debt oto obtain information
concerning a conswen.” 15 U.S.C. 8 1692e(10)Section1692fis directedtoward preventing
unfair practicesby debtcollectorsandprovides,in part,thata “debtcollectormay not use unfair
or unconscionableneansto collect or attemptto collect any debt.” Plaintiff allegesGoldman

specifically violated section 1692f(l), which providesthat “[tlhe collection of any amount

(includinganyinterest,fee,charge or expensencidentalto the principal obligation) unlessuch

12



amountis expresslyauthorized bythe agreementreding the debt orpermittedby law” is a
violation. 15U.S.C.§ 1692f(]).

“A debtcollectionletteris deceptivevhere’it canbe reasonablgeadto havetwo or more
different meaning, one ofwhich is inaccurate” Brown, 464 F.3dat 455 (quotingQuadramed
225 F.3dat 354).AccordMcLaughlinv. Phelan Hallinan & Schmied,LP, 756 F.3d 240 (3Cir.
2014); Genovav. IC Sys., Inc.No. 16-5621, 201 ®VL 2289289at *1 (D.N.J. May 25, 2017);
Ardino v. Solomon & SolomorR.C, No. 13-1821, 2014 WL 26868(D.N.J. Jan.23, 2014);
Hernandez. Miracle Fin., Inc, 2011WL 6328216D.N.J.Dec.13, 2011).

In McLaughlin the plaintiff receivedaletterfrom a debtcollectorstatingthat the amount
of hisdebtwas$365,488.40, which included $650attorneysfeesand $550or costsof suitand
atitle search.756 F.3dat 243. However, théeesandcostshad notactuallybeenincurredas of
the date theplaintiff receivedthe letter and therefore,the plaintiff argued the communication
containedalserepresetationsasto the amount of his underlying dets the bank.Id. TheThird
Circuit rejectedthedebtcollector’'s argument that thetterdid not violate theeDCPAbecausét
containedan estimateof the amount owedd. at 246.Instead it found thatnothing in theletter
conveyedo the debtothatthe amountistedwasanestimateld. The Third Circuit noted, [t]he
only messagehis conveysto the readeris the amounbwed on aspecific date,”and “[a]s the
drafter of the [l] etter, [the debt collector] is responsibleor its content andor what the least
sophisticated debtor would have understfrodn it.” 1d. The Third Circuit found theplaintiff
stateda plausibleclaim that the fl] etter misrepresentshe amount of the dela violation of
§ 1692e(2) and (10).Id. Consequentlyit reversedthe district cout’s order granting the debt

collector’s motionto dismisstheplaintiff s FDCPA claims.Id. at 250.
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In Genovathe plaintiff incurred a debto PreventativeHealthcareAssociation(“PHA”).
2017WL 2289289at*1. PHA hiredthe Defendanb collectthe debt andenttheplaintiff aletter
in attemptto collect on the debt. Id. The letter included acollection charge,namelya 17%
contingentfee, which representedhe defendant’santicipatedcompensationf it successfully
collectedon thedebt.Id. This Court found thatbecausehe PHA by its termsonly requirecthe
consumetto pay anyfees‘incurred, [the d]efendantvas not ‘expresslyauthorized’to seekthe
Collection Charge,which representedn estimateof coststhat hadnot yet beenincurred or
earned. Id. at5.

In Ardino, an attorneyenteredinto a retairer agreementvith the plaintiff's creditorthat
provided the attornewith a contingencyee of 22%for any amountollectedfrom the debtor.
2014 WL 26868t *1-2. The plaintiff took out a studentoan andexecuteda promissorynote
agreeingo “pay all amountsincludingreasonableollectionagency and attorney&esand court
and othercollectioncoststhat youincur in effectingcollectionof this Note, up to the maximum
penaltypermittedby law.” Id. at*2. Whentheplaintiff defaulted on his loan, tlatorneysenthim
acollectionletter statinghe owedthe principalamountlieft on his loanaswell asattorneysfees
representing 22% of that amoult. at*1. However, thelistrict court found theollectionletter
in violation of § 1692ebecauset failed to notify the plaintiff that “theattorneys’feeswere not
due untilactuallyincurred,andthat they would becalculatedon a contingenbasis.”ld. at *4.
Further,the Court noted thd{w]hile the [the plaintiffs] agreedto pay costsincurred by [the
creditor],they did notagreeto pay—andthe defendant] had nbasisto demand—a prospective
or estimatedee.” Id. Therefore the Court denied the defendant’s motiodismisstheplaintiff’ s

FDCPAclaim.

14



In Hernandez the debtcollectorsentlettersto the plaintiff statingthatits collectionfee
wasdue and owingeventhough the debtollector'sagreementvith the creditorwascontingent
and thecreditorhad notyetincurredanycollectioncharges2011WL 6328216t *1-3. This Court
heldthat:

under thdeastsophisticatediebtor standardlantiff statesaclaim

sufficientto statea plausible righto relief regarding thenclusion

of a contingentfee not yetchargedto which Verizon was only

entitledin the event ofsuccessfutollection. Theseallegationsare

sufficientto statea plausible righto relief underl5U.S.C.8 1692e.
Id. at*10 (citing Gathuruv. Credit Control Services|nc., 623F. Supp.2d 113, 121-2%D. Mass.
2009)).

The casesGoldmancites in support ofits argument do nopersuadethe Court.The
underlyingagreementatissuein mostcase<itedto by Goldman dishotstateplaintiffs hadagreed
to payonly thosecosts“which the lendeor subsequent holder of tiRromissoryNote incursin
collectingthis loan.” (ECFNo. 27 { 72ECFNo. 53-1 { 3ECFNo. 57-1 | 3(emphasisadded).)
Thecaseslsodid notlimit thecollectionfeeto costsactuallyincurred,andthe onecasethatdid
is notbindingonthis Court The Courtwill briefly addressomeof thesecases.

NewJerseyHigher EducatiorAssistancéiuthority v. Martin, 628 A.2d 365N.J. Super.
Ct. App. Div. 1993),stateghat a note provision requiring paymentotinsefeesin the event of
defaultis enforceableandthat acourtmay not awardlessthanthefull amount offeesincurred.
Id. at 367-68. Theisswe beforethis Courtis differentandmorenuancedNext, Goldmanpointsto
Shapirov. Riddle & AssocP.C, 240F. Supp.2d 287(S.D.N.Y.2003) and-ieldsv. Wilber Law
Firm, P.C, 383 F.3d 5627th Cir. 2004)for supportNeitherof thesecasedimitedthecollection

of attorneys’feesto “actuallyincurred or dealwith contingencyfees.Instead they dealtwith

authorized feasonableattorneysfees.
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Lastly, while thefee arrangemenin Murr v. TarponFin. Corp, No. 10- 372, 2014NL
546690,at *8 (E.D. Tenn.Feb.10, 2014)was contingent orsumscollectedand the court found
“[t]here is simply nothing improper about basiagattorneys fee on thepercentagef debt,” that
caseis not binding onthis Court or persuasivieecausehereareThird Circuit casesandDistrict
Courtcasesn this District direcly on point.

Here, much like McLaughlin Genova, Ardino, and Hernandez Plaintiffs signed
promissory notes favor of HESAA, which stated,| will payall chargescollectioncostsandall
othercoststhat are permittedunderthis Note for the collection of this loan, which the lenderor
subsequent holder ¢iie PromissoryNoteincursin collectingthis loan.” (ECFNo. 27 § 72,ECF
No. 53-1 1 3ECFNo. 57-1 { 3.)However,no feesor costshadactuallybeenincurredasof the
datePlaintiffs receivedthe June 27 etters. Plaintiffs agreedonly to pay costsincurred they did
not agreeto pay aprospectiveor estimatedee. Becaug thetermsof the promissory notes only
requiredPlaintiffs to pay fees“incurred” andno suchfeeswere incurred, Goldmarviolated 8§
1692¢e(2JA), (10) and § 1692 (f)(1) by statingin the June 27 etters, “There remainsdue a
balanceasshown abovewhich includesinterestandcollectioncosts” (ECFNo. 27 atEx. E and
Ex. F.) In statinga balancewas due,which includedcollection costs,Goldmanmisrepresented
“the characteramaunt orlegal statusof any debt” andised“unfair or unconscionablmeansto
collect or attemptto collect any debt.”Because8 1692e(10)“is a catchalitype provision
prohibiting ‘[tihe use of anyfalse representatioror deceptivaneansto collect. . . anydebt;”
Rosenaw. Unifund Corp, 539 F.3d 218, 224 (3dir. 2008), andPlaintiffs’ § 1692e(10laimis
premisedon thesamelanguage otheoriesasthe § 1692@and§ 1692fclaim, the analysis of the §

1692e and § 1692¢$ dispositive.Grubbv. GreenTreeServicing,LLC, No. 13-07421, 2014VL

3696126at*11 (D.N.J.July 24, 2014)seeCapriov. HealthcareRevenudrecoveryGrp., LLC,
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709 F.3d 142, 155 (3a@ir. 2013)(“Becausene have concluded that tistrict Courtcommitted
reversibleerror by grantingjudgment on the pleadingsto the § 1692gclaim, we mustreachthe
sameconclusionwith respecto the claim brought under § 1692e(10)."Yasquez. Gertler &
Gertler, Ltd., 987F. Supp. 652, 650\.D. lll. 1997) (whollyrestingits finding thatdefendantlid
not violate§ 1692e orits finding that defendardid notviolate 8 1692g)Pipilesv. Credit Bureau
of Lockport, Inc. 886 F.2d 22, 25-26 (2@ir. 1989) (holdingthat the “the vagueness of the
language’in a noticesuggestedefendant woulthkeactionst did notintendto takeandtherefore
violatedboth 88 1692e(5) and (10)).
Accordingly, Goldman’s Motiofior SummaryJudgemenis DENIED. However, the only
claim thatwill proceeds that Goldman’s June A%tters violated thd=DCPAbecauseét
[a]ttemptedto collect “collection costs”whensuch“costs” hadnot
been“incurred’ atthetime the debtollectionlettersweresent. . . .
In fact, they were contingencyfees, and it was not until many
months after [Goldman’s] debtcollection letters were sent to
Plaintiffs that aNew Jerseystate court (in a separateunrelated,
action) evendeterminedhat Defendantvasentitledto “collection
costs”, and furtherdeterminedthe actual amount of“collection
costs’due . . ..
(ECFNo.57at1;seeECFNo. 27.)
[11.  CLASSCERTIFICATION
A. Standard of Review
The Third Circuit has consistently observed that “Rule 23 is designed to asswautitst
will identify the common interests of class members and evaluate the namedfglant
counsel’s ability to fairly and adeqedyt protect class interestdn re Comm. Bank of N/a,, 622

F.3d 275, 291 (3d Cir. 2010) (quotihg re Gen. Motors Corp. Pieldp Truck FuelTank Prods.

Liab. Litig., 55 F.3d 768, 799 (3d Cir. 1995) (alterations omitted). Rule 23 contains two sets of
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requirements. First, a party seeking class certification must demonieatdass satisfiehé
requirements of Rule 23(a):
(1) the class is so numeroubat joinder of all members is
impracticable [numerosity]; (2) there are questions of law or fact
common to the class [commonality]; (3) the claims or defenses of
the representative parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the
class [typicality]; and (4) the representative parties will fairly and
adequately protect the interests of the class [adequacy].
Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a).

Second, plaintiffs must show that the requirements of one of the provisions of Rule 23(b)
are met. Because Plaintiffette seelcertification under Rule 23(b)(3), the Court must find “that
the questions of law or fact common to class members predominate over anynguesticting
only individual members, and that a class action is superior to other available nfetifadty
and efficiently adjudicating the controversy.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3). These requisearent
known as predominance and superiofityre Gonstar Intl Inc. Sec. Litig.585 F.3d 774, 780 (3d
Cir. 2009).

Importantly, the Third Circuit has instructed that “each Rule 23 component][brist
satisfied” in order for a court to certify a claBsre Hydrogen Peroxides52 F.3d 305, 310 (3d
Cir. 2008) (citingAmchem Prods., Inc. v. Winds&21 U.S. 591, 630 (89). In that regard,
“[c]lass certification is an especially serious decision, as it ‘is often theingimoment in class
actions (for it may sound the ‘death knell’ of the litigation on the part oftgfa, or create
unwarranted pressure to settl®@firmeritorious] claims on the part of defendant®yéwton v.
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc259 F.3d 154, 162 (3d Cir. 2001). Hydrogen
Peroxide the Third Circuit urged districtourts, where appropriate, todélve beyond the

pleadingdo determine whether the requirements for class certification are satisfied.’ "JsbatF.

316 (quwting Newton 259 F.3d at 167YAn overlap between a class certification requirement and
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the merits of a claim is no reason to decline to resolve relevant disputes wiessang to
determine whether a class certification requirement is nigetfmportantly, the predominance
inquiry is especially dependent upon therits of a plaintiffs claim, since “the nature of the
evidence that will suffice to resoha question determines whether the question is common or
individual.” Id. at 31011 (citations omitted). “if proof of the essential elements of the cause of
actionrequires individual treatmenit,then predominance is defeated and a class should not be
cettified. Id. (quotingNewton 259 F.3d at 172)xee In re Constas85 F.3d at 780.

B. Ascertainability

Before addressing Rule 23’s requirements for class certific@mdman as a preliminary
matter argues Plaintiffsproposed class, as defined,uisascertainabl ECF No. B at 9-12.)
Specifically, Goldman argues Plaintiffs are bound by the class definition they proposed in their
Amended Complaint anthatthe Court should not consider their revised definition provided in
their Motion for Class Céification. (Id.) Goldman further argues that because Plaintiffs’ class
definition in their Amended Complaint is a “fafe” classit is unascertainableld.) The Court
disagrees:Plaintiff[s] [are] not bound by the class definitions proposed in ffh&mended
Complaint, and the Court can consider Plaintiff[s’] revised definitions,itailbese revisions
[being] made in [their] motion for class certificatioK&low & Springut, LLP v. Commence Carp.
272 F.R.D. 397, 402 (D.N.J. 201y reconsideratin in part No. 073442, 2011 WL 3625853
(D.N.J. Aug. 15, 2011)Therefore, the Court can and will consider Plaintiffs’ new definition of

the clasgheypropose irtheir Motion.*

! Goldman does noargue Plaintiffs’ new classdefinition is a “fail -safe” class. Accordingly,
Goldman’s argumerthat Plaintiffs’ classdefinition in their Amended Complaint a “fail -safe”
classis MOOT. As such, the Coumvill notaddresghatissue.
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Prior to determining whether the requirements of Rule 23 have been met, the Court must
first analyze whether Plaintiffsiew proposed class definition is “readily ascertainable based on
objective criteria.’Agostino v. Quest Diagnostics In256 F.R.D. 437, 478 (D.N.J. 2008).order
to determine whether a proposed class is ascertainable, the Court must engage in & two par
analysis. First, the Court must determine whether the defined class specifiesctdguagroup
that was harmed during a particuliane frame, in a particular location, in a particular wagive
v. E.I. Dupont De Nemours & G262 F.R.D451, 455D.N.J. 2009). Second, the Court mhset
able to ascertain the classteembership iran objective mannerld.; Byrd v. Aaron’s InG.784
F.3d 154, 163 (3d Cir. 2015) (findinpe Third Circuit has implemented a tfad inquiry
requiring a plaintiff to show: “(1) the class is defined with reference to oigectiteria; and (2)
there is a reliable and administratively feasible meisinafor determining whether putative class
membersdll within the class definition?)

Significantly, in demonstratingscertainability a plaintiff need not identify every class
member at the class certification stage; instagudaintiff is required teshow that “class members
can be identified. Byrd, 784 F.3d at 163citation omitted) (emphasis in originablif class
members are impossible to identify without extensive and individualizedifidatg or ‘mini-
trials,” then a class action is inappratd.” Marcus v. BMW of N. Am., LLLG87 F.3d 583, 593
(3d Cir. 2012).

Here, Plaintiffs have satisfied the requirement of defining an ascertainable [daggfd?
class definitions are comprised of objective criteria and factors, and, tleescaable of being
ascertainedPlaintiffs have proposed the following definitiohthe class

All New JerseyConsumersvho were sentnotices orettersfrom
[Goldman] prior to [Goldman] obtaining a judgmenagainstthe

such consumerduring the periodbetween Januaryl3, 2014 and
March 20, 2017, concerning debtallegedlyowedto New Jersey
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Higher Education StuderssistanceAuthority, which statedin
part:

“There remains due abalanceas show abovewhich includes
interestandcollectioncosts.”

(ECF No. 54-1at 5.) This definition identifies a particular group, New JerseyConsumers; a
particulartime frame;andthe harmto the groupyeceivinga letter stating,“There remainsdue a
balanceasshow abovewhich includesinterestandcollectioncosts.”(Id.) As discusse@bovein
theMotion for SummaryJudgmensectionsupra receivingthe June 27 éttessis indeedtheharm
thatis thebasisof Plaintiffs’ FDCPAallegationdn this case.
Plaintiffs have demonstratemh objectiveway to ascertainvho is a memberof theclass.
Indeed Plaintiffs allege:
No mini-trial or burdensome individualactfinding would be
necessarpecausehe mechanisntor identifying Classmembers
would only require arelatively straightforward examination of
Goldman’s business recortisfind those individualsvho meetthe
classdefinition. In fact, Plaintiff respectfullysubmitsthat this has
alreadybeencompletedy Goldmanandtherewere437New Jersey
consumersvho weresenta letter/noticefrom Goldman which fits
squarelywithin theclassdefinition.
(ECFNo. 54-1 at 8.) Thus,Plaintiffs arecapableof ascertaininghe putativeclassmembers
C. Rule 23(a) Inquiry
Next, the Courtmust determinevhether Plaintiffs have satisfied the prerequisites for
maintaining a class action as set forth in Rule 23@jldman only addresses adequacy.
Specifically, it argues Plaintiffs are not adequate class representatives arcbtmsel cannot

adequately epresent the class. (ECF No. 58 at213) Nevertheless, the Court will address all

elements briefly.

21



i Numer osity

With respect to numerosity, a party need not precisely enumerate the class members to
proceed as a class actidn.re Lucent Tech. Inc., Sec. Litig07 F. Supp. 2d 633, 640 (D.N.J.
2004). “No minimum number of plaintiffs is required to maintain a suit as & eletson, but
generally if the named plaintiff demonstrates that the potential number ofiffdagxceeds 40,
the first prong oRule 23(a) has been meStewart v. Abrahan275 F.3d 220, 2287 (3d Cir.
2001) (citing 5 dmes Wm. Moore et al., Moore’s Federal Practice S 23.22[3][a] (Matthew Bender
3d ed. 1999)).

Here,Goldmans discovey responses identified at leas27 New JerseyConsumers that
receivednoticesor lettersfrom Goldmanprior to Goldman obtaining a judgmeagainstthe
consumer, duringhe classperiod,which statedin part, “There remainsdue a balanceas shown
above which includesinterestandcollectioncosts.”(ECFNo. 54-1at 9.) Accordingly,it appears
the potential number of plaintiffs far exceeds the number generally deemedsfty Hat
numerosity requiremengee Marcus687 F.3d at 595. Therefore, the Court fimisnerosity is
satisfied

ii. Commonality

Commonality requires thete be“questions of law or fact common to the clag®d.R.

Civ. P.23(a)(2). The threshold for establishing commonality is straightforw@ig: tommonality
requirement will be satisfied if the named plaintiff@se at leasbnequestion of fact or law with

the grievances of the prospective class.fe Schering Plough Corp. ERISAig., 589 F.3d 585,
59697 (3d Cir. 2009) (quotinBaby Neal v. Casey3 F.3d 48, 56 (3d Cir. 1994)). Indeed, as the
Third Circuitpointed out, “[i]t is well established that only one question of law or fact in common

is necessary to satisfy the commonality requirement, despite the use of thepeg@bns’ in the
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language of Rule 23(a)(2)Ih re ScheringPlough 589 F.3d at 97 n.10. Thus, there is a low
threshold for satisfying this requiremeNewton 259 F.3dat 183;In re Sch. Asbestos Litig789

F.2d 996, 1010 (3d Cir. 1986) (highlighting that the threshold of commonality is not high (citations
omitted)).

Moreover, this requirement does metjuireall putative class membets share identical
claims,seeHassine v. Jeffe846 F.2d 169, 1787 (3d Cir. 1988), “factual differences among the
claims of the putative class members do not defeat certificaBatyNeal 43 F.3d at 56. In that
regard, class members can assert a single common complaint even if they hdlvsuffetred
actual injury; demonstrating that all class members are subject to the aameviti suffice.
Hassine 846 F.2d at 1778. “Even where individual facts and circumstances do become
important to the resolution, class treatment is not preclud@adhyNeal 43 F.3d at 56.

This case presents numerous questions of law and fact that are commortléssall
membersas demonstrated by tiMotion for SummaryJudgment, &h member received a letter
or noticefrom Goldmanprior to Goldmanobtaining a judgment agairtsie consumer, during the
classperiod,which statedin part, “There remans due a balancas show abovewhich includes
interestandcollectioncosts.”(ECFNo. 54-1at 9.). Insofar as Plaintiffs allege thetters violated
the FDCPA, those violations and related remedies would apply to all ciasbars.

iii. Typicality

Rule 23(a)(3) requires that the repreagéme’s claim be typical of the members of the class.
“The concepts of commonality and typicality are broadly defined and tend to merge gathegus
focus on similar aspects of the alleged claineiwton 259 F.3d at 182. “Both criteria seek to
assure that the action can be practically and efficiently maintained and thatietestgof the

absentees will be fairly and adequately represenBaby Neal 43 F.3d at 56see GenTel. Co.
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of Southwest v.d&fcon 457 U.S. 147, 157 n.13 (1982). Despite their similarity, commonrality
like numerosity—evaluates the sufficiency of the class itself, and typicalitge adequacy of
representation-evaluates the sufficiency of the named plainBt#e Hassing846 F.2d at 177 n.4;
Weiss v. York Hospr45 F.2d 786, 810 (3d Cir. 1984§rt. denied470 U.S. 1060 (1985).

Specifically, Rule 23(a)(3) requires that “the claims . . . of the representatitiesgbe]
typical of the claims of the classSeeFed. R. Civ.P.23(a)(3). Typicality acts as a bar to class
certification only when “the legal theories of the named representativegigibferonflict with
those of the absenteesseorgine v. Amchem Prod®3 F.3d 610, 631 (3d Cir. 1996ygwton
259 F.3d 183. “If the claims of the named plaintiffs and putative class members invobaertbe
conduct by the defendant, typicality is established regardless of factual differédcats184. In
other words, the typicality requirement is satistesdong as representatives and the class claims
arise from the same event or practice or course of conduct and are based on theasdmergg
Brosious v. Children’s Place Retail Stoyd89 F.R.D. 138, 146 (D.N.J. 1999).

Here, typicality is clearly $sfied becausélaintiffs’ claims arise from the same course of
conduct that gave rise to the claims of all ottlassmembersand are based on the same legal
theory. Thus, the typicality requirement of Rule 23(a)(3) is met.

iv. Adequacy

A class may not be certified unless the representative class members “willafadrly
adequately protect the interests of the class.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4). “Ral)&s 28lequacy of
representation requirement ‘serves to uncover conflicts of intersgtdre named parties and the
class they seek to representri’re Pet Food Prod. Liab. Litig629 F.3d 333, 343 (3d Cir. 2010)
(quotingAmchem 521 U.S. at 625). Class representatives “must be part of the class and possess

the same interest and suffer g@me injury as the class membetd.”(citation omitted).
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This requirement has traditionally entailed a 4pronged inquiry: first, the named
plaintiff's interests must be sufficiently aligned with the interesth®fabsentees; and secpthe
plaintiff's counsel must be qualified to represent the class. Motors 55 F.3d at 800. A named
plaintiff is “adequate” if his interests do not conflict with those ofdlass.In re Prudential Ins.
Co. Am. Sales Practice Litig. Agent Actiphd8F.3d 283, 312 (3d Cir. 1998pursuant to Rule
23(g), adequacy of class counsel is considered separately from the deternoihtiteoadequacy
of the class representatives.

Goldman argues Gumpper is an inadequate class representative because he has “abdicated
responsibility for the litigation to his family and attorneys.” (ECF No. 58 at 13fpAS3arney,
Goldman argues he is “inadequate because his situation as-@mengrusader for student loan
reform makes him so different from that of the mdghe putative class that his claims are not even
close to being typical.”ld. at 13-14.)

“[A] class representative ‘need only pessa minimal degree of knowledge necesdary
meet the adequacy standardCity Select Auto Sales, Inc. v. David Randall Assocs., 296
F.R.D. 299, 316 (D.N.J. 2018)yuotingNew Directions Treatment Servs. v. City of Readi®§
F.3d 293, 313 (3d Ci007)) “[A] proposedrepresentative’ lack of particularized knowledge
concerning the dispute at issue ‘does not refadelass representativieladequate . . [if] she has
retained adequate counsel to represent’h®z¢zubelek v. Cendant Mortg. Co2i5 F.R.D. 107,
120 (D.N.J. 2003)quotingEttinger v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Iné22 F.R.D.
177, 182 (E.DPa.1988)).

As a preliminary matter, Goldmdails to identify a specific conflict between Plaingiff

and the potential class members. Nor dbesCourt find that @onflict exiss between them, as
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this dispute againsBoldmanstems from the same alleged unlawful conduct, the misleading
content in Goldman’sotice/lettes.

The Court finds Gumpper possesthe“minimal degree of knowledga&qured of a class
representative. Indeed, during his depositiom was asked to explain the claim he is bringing
against Goldman and stated, “Mr. Goldman is trying to collect attorney fedsetiganot entitled
to because of a letter that was sent to me where . . . as far as | know because belleasaiy
of the outstanding debt he wasn’t allowed to charge me attorney fees at the tingottatdtter
in the mail.” (ECF No. 59 7:28:5.) He further stated, “I know that because the amount of the
conplaint can change and his attorney fees are based on a percentage that he can’t collect any of
his attorney gees before he collects money from nek.a(8:1317.) To the extent Gumpper lacks
knowledge regarding the legal aspects of his case, the Court finds that doesdsot him
inadequate because as will be articulated below, he has retained adequate counsel taniepresent
Szczubelek15 F.R.Dat120.

The Court further finds Carney’s interests are not antagonistic to ¢fidke classThe
fact thatCarney is a strong advocate of student loan refiwes not render him an inadequate
class representative. Carney’s claims are typical of all the other class merberere sent the
same form letter. Goldman provides no evidence demonstrating Carney merely braughit thi
for institutional reform. As such, the Court finds both class representatives toduai@de

Rule 23(g)alsorequires a court to assess the adequacy of proposed class counsel. To that
end, theCourt must consider the following: (1) the work counsel has done in identifying or
investigating potential claims in the action; (2) counsel’'s experientandling class actions,
other complex litigation, and claims of the type asserted in the action; (3) celmsstledge of

the applicable law; and (4) the resources counsel will commit to represdrdictassNafar v.
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Hollywood Tanning Sys., IndNo. 06CV-3826, 2008 WL 3821776, at *7 (D.N.J. Aug. 12, 2008).
Lead counsel,Jones, Wolf & Kapasi, LLCis experienced in handling complex litigation
including FDCPA casesnd has representethintiffs in over250 consumer cases FDCPA cases
in the State of New York aridew Jersey(SeeECF No. 3-1 at11-12) See, e.g., Hegab v. Family
Dollar Stores, InG.No. 121206, 2015 WL 1021130, at *ZD.N.J.Mar. 9, 2015) (“Class Counsel

. .. have extensive experience litigating complex class actians [thus]the Court finds that
Class Counsel has the qualifications, experience, and ability to condiitog&tien.”). Goldman’s
argument that counsel is inadequate because it is named as a defendant in a class actien lawsuit
meritless. In fagtThe Honorable John Micha®¥lazquez,USDJ,granted Jones, Wolf & Kapasi,
LLC’s motion to dismiss the Complaint that actionWinters v. JonedNo. 169020, 2018 WL
326518(D.N.J. Jan. 8, 2018)Accordingly, counselis qualified and experiendein consumer
action litigation and more than adequate to repredairit#s and the class.

D. Rule 23(b)(3) Factors. Common Questions Predominate and the Class Is
Superior to Other Methods of Adjudication

After meeting the threshold requirements of Rule 23(a), a plaintiff must elktalés
proposed class meets the requirements of Rule 23(b)(3). To certify a clasRuled23(b)(3), the
Court must find th&tthe questions of law or fact common to the members of the class predominate
over any question affecting only individual members, and that a class action is stgettwar
available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controvdrsye 23(b)(3) requires
that “a class action [be] superior to other available methods for the fair adrgéfédjudication
of the controversy.” Fed. R. Civ. R3(b)(3). In this case, both considerations weigh in favor of
class certification.

Here, Plaintiffs satisfy the predominance and superiority criteria of Rul®(33(In

determining whether common questions predominate, courts have focused on thefdiabilisy
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against defendant&eeBogosian v. Gulf Oil Corp.561 F.2d 434, 456 (3d Cir. 197 8mithv.
Suprema Specialties, In®No. 02168,2007 WL1217980, at * 9D.N.J. 2007)citations omittedl

(“The focus of the predominance inquiry is on liability, not damages.”). When common questions
are a significant aspect of a case and they can be resolved in a single action, class cersification
appropriateSee7A Wright, Miller & Kane, Federal Prace and Procedure: Civil 2d, § 1788, at
528 (1986).

In this FDCPA actionGoldman’salleged liability arises from issuance of thene 27
Lettess or notice sent prior to Goldman obtaining judgment statifigereremainsdueabalance
asshown abovewnhich includesinterestandcollectioncosts.”(ECF No. 54-1at 5.) Whether the
Letters violated the FDCPA is the central issue in this case and predominates over aioyahdi
issue Here, the existence of common questions and their predominance ovituabissues are
exemplified by the fact that if every class member were to bring an individual aaenplaintiff
would be required to demonstrate tle¢tess or notices violated the FDCPA. The Court finds,
therefore, the predominance criteria of R2B¢b)(3)is met.

The superiority requirement “asks the court to balance, in terms of fairnesdicied®f,
the merits of a class action against those of alternative available methods of adjutliicate
Prudential Ins. Cq.148 F.3d at 316 (internaitations omitted)|n re Warfarin 391F.3d at 532
33.The Court concludes class action is appropbatausét would be more efficierto try these
plaintiffs togetherwhen compared to other means of adjudication. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Certify Class iSRANTED.

IV.  NoTIcETO CLASS
Rule 23(c)(2)(B) requiresthat the membersof a Rule 23(b)(3)class,asin this case,be

given notice of theatureof the action, theefinition of theclasscertified, the opportunityto opt
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out of theclassandmechanisnfor doing so, and othemportart informationthatis “clearly and
conciselystate[d]”in “plain, easilyunderstood languagered.R. Civ. P.23(c)(2)(B).Suchnotice
mustbe givento all personsvho canbe idenified throughreasonableffort. Id. In the present
case,such notice must now be proposed bglasscounsel,for Court approvalto apprisethe

individualsin this classregading their rights and options. In light of thdact that Goldman’s
Motion for SummaryJudgment haBeendenied.Suchnotice regardinghe conduct of the @ion

is permittedin the Court’'sdiscretionunderRule 23(d)(1)(B)andwill be required hereithin the
forthcomingRule 23(c)(2)(B) notice.

Accordingly, counseshall conferregarding the approvdbrm of classnotice, and lass
counselwithin thirty (30) days okntry of the accompanyin@rder,shall submitan appropriate
motionfor approval of tassnotificationfor the Court’s approval.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasornsetforth above: (1) Goldman’s Motidior SummaryJudgmenis DENIED
and (2)Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify classis GRANTED. Counselshall confer regarding the
approvalform of classnotice, andshall, within thirty (30) days ofentry of the accompanying

Order,submitanappropriate motiofor approval ofclassnotification for the Court'sapproval.

Date: May 30, 2018 /s/ Brian R. Martinotti
HON. BRIAN R. MARTINOTTI
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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